FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/17/2018 4:09 PM

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No.	
(Court of Appeals No.	75676-1-I)

CENTRUM FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

UNION BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Rick J Wathen, WSBA #25539 COLE | WATHEN | LEID | HALL, P.C. Attorneys for Petitioner Centrum Financial 303 Battery Street Seattle, WA 98121 Telephone: (206) 622-0494

rwathen@cwlhlaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Centrum Financial Services, the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Published Opinion filed on December 18, 2017, attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13(b)(4) as the opinion substantially impacts the public because it is controlling authority which creates conflicts with the Deed of Trust Act.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The material facts are not in dispute. Prium Development Company LLC owned a large two-story office building in Monroe. On October 6, 2004, Frontier Bank loaned approximately \$1,875,000 to Prium Development Company, L.L.C. The loan was evidenced by a promissory note and secured by a first deed of trust on Prium's Monroe, Washington property ("Monroe Property".) The note's maturity date was October 10, 2014.

The Appellant, Centrum Financial Services, Inc. ("Centrum"), is a Washington corporation, whose business since 1987 has been making short term commercial real estate loans, secured by real property collateral. On December 7, 2006, Centrum loaned Prium Development

Company L.L.C. \$1,610,000, secured by a second deed of trust on the Monroe Property.

Prium defaulted on Centrum's loan, causing Centrum to foreclose its second deed of trust, taking title to the Monroe Property on January 21, 2011. Centrum purchased the Monroe property at the Trustee's Sale for \$1,823,780.79, which was the amount of Prium's debt to Centrum. The Trustee's Deed conveying the Monroe Property to Centrum is recorded under Snohomish County Auditor's No. 201102040141. Centrum's title was subject to the first deed of trust securing Frontier Banks \$1,875,000 loan to Prium.

The Respondent, Union Bank acquired Frontier Bank's Everett operations and assets on April 30, 2010, pursuant to a Purchase and Assumption Agreement with the FDIC, as receiver for Frontier Bank. The trustee issued a Notice of Default on June 22, 2011, followed by a Notice of Trustee's Sale issued on July 25, 2011.

Centrum contacted both Union Bank and the trustee in September 2011 to learn the amount required to reinstate the loan. The full balance of the Prium note was not due until October 10, 2014. The trustee repeatedly refused to provide the reinstatement information to Centrum. Instead, the trustee sent Centrum a "Union Bank, N.A. Demand/Statement for Loan Payoff," dated September 12, 2011, CP 208-209. Alena Marshak, an employee of Hacker & Willig responded to Centrum's inquiries by stating

in a September 28, 2012 email that "Union bank is only interested in a full payoff of this loan."

On October 14, 2011, Centrum notified the trustee that Centrum was "tendering a willingness and ability to reinstate this loan." On October 25, 2011, Centrum again sent the trustee another email, notifying them that Centrum "remains willing and able to reinstate the loan immediately." On October 27, 2011, Centrum sent the trustee an email stating Centrum's willingness to pay upcoming real estate taxes as part of reinstating the Prium loan, reiterating that "Centrum is prepared to immediately reinstate the loan and start making all payment to the Bank going forward, as well as keeping all the real estate taxes current." CP 211. The trustee responded to these emails on October 28, 2011, advising Centrum that Union Bank would be paying the real estate taxes and that "reinstatement of the loan is not a possibility." CP 216. On October 14, 2011, Centrum notified the trustee that Centrum would be forced to file a lawsuit against Union Bank, as required by RCW 61.24.090, to protect its interest in the Monroe Property because of Union Bank's continued rejecting Centrum's efforts to reinstate the loan.

On October 31, 2011, Centrum asked the Trustee to provide Centrum with backup details showing how the figures provided in the notice of default were calculated, in particular calculations for the Principal, Interest (with applicable interest rates that were used for the calculations), and Taxes. Centrum received no response.

After two months of fruitless attempts to persuade the Trustee to provide any reinstatement information or explain the questionable amounts stated in the Notice of Trustee's Sale, Centrum notified the Trustee that Centrum was exercising its right to reinstate the loan and to demand that the Trustee supply the reinstatement information. By letter to the trustee, dated November 7, 2011, Mr. Hathaway formally notified the Trustee that Centrum had acquired title to the property by trustee's deed, that Centrum required that the Trustee provide the amounts necessary to reinstate the loan and that Centrum was exercising its statutory right to do so. CP 218.

Centrum's November 7, 2011 letter also notified the Trustee that Centrum questioned several of the defaults listed in the Notice of Trustee's Sale and pointed out that the Property had had least \$1 million in equity, so its loss would have disastrous consequences for Centrum. The letter asked the Trustee to provide the requested information by November 10, 2011. The Trustee avoided providing the requested information by discontinuing the Trustee's Sale.

Centrum sent multiple letters and communications over the next several months requesting reinstatement and information concerning the calculations in the notice of default. The trustee failed to respond.

The Trustee issued yet another Notice of Foreclosure and a new Notice of Trustee's Sale on August 14, 2012, fixing the Trustee's Sale for November 16, 2012. The new Notice of Trustee's Sale demanded

\$533,687 to reinstate the loan. Centrum wrote the Trustee again on October 26, 2012, in a final attempt to obtain a reinstatement figure. CP 255-258.

Neither the Trustee nor Union Bank responded to any of the deficiencies addressed in Mr. Hathaway's October 26, 2012 letter. Having exhausted its efforts to reinstate the Prium loan, Centrum had no choice but to file suit to enjoin the Trustee's Sale for judicial determination of the reasonable charges for reinstating the loan.

The trial court ruled that Centrum had no right of reinstatement.

The Court of Appeals affirmed that decision in a written decision filed on

December 18, 2017.

V. ARGUMENT

The Petitioner, Centrum Financial, brings this Petition pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) as the issue presented in the published decision presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The opinion will have a chilling effect on the secondary lending market such as home equity lines of credit (HELOC) and other lenders who take a second position deed of trust as security for making loans to consumers and businesses throughout the State of Washington. The opinion of the Court of Appeals discourages the orderly and timely foreclosure process. The opinion of the Court of Appeals encourages lender misconduct and allows inflated interest and penalty charge calculations without ever being subject to an accounting as contemplated

under the Deed of Trust Act ("DTA"). This case warrants review by the Supreme Court to harmonize the statute and give effect to the legislature's intent.

A. The Opinion of the Court of Appeals Defeats the Legislative Intent Rather Than Harmonizes the Deed of Trust Act.

RCW 61.24.005(7) defines Grantor as follows: "Grantor" means a person, or its successors, who executes a deed of trust to encumber the person's interest in property as security for the performance of all or part of borrower's obligations." The Court of Appeals interpreted this provision to apply only to successors who execute a deed of trust. The problem with this interpretation is that it directly conflicts with the notice requirements described below. Had the Court of Appeals instead interpreted this provision to apply to a successor of a person who executed a deed of trust, this provision would then be in harmony with the rest of the DTA.

The notice requirements to be sent in accordance with RCW 61.24.040(f) specifically include a section advising the recipients that they have a right to reinstate. Centrum Financial is one such required recipient. Thus, the legislature's clear intent is to allow parties such as Centrum Financial the right to reinstate. Otherwise the notice requirements under RCW 61.24.040 would be meaningless.

RCW 61.24.040 (1)(b)(iii) requires that notice be provided to "the holder of any conveyances of any interest or estate in any portion or all of

the property described in such notice" Centrum Financial was at all times material the holder of a conveyance, i.e., Trustee's deed in the Monroe property. As a result, the legislature required notice to be sent to Centrum. The legislature then proscribes the specific language which is to be used in the notice of trustee sale and the notice of foreclosure. RCW 61.24.040(f).

The statutorily required notice specifically advises the recipients of the right to "cure" and "reinstate." The legislature mandates that a party such as Centrum is entitled to notice and entitled to be advised of its right to "cure" and "reinstate." The intent of the legislation is to advise the recipients, i.e., Centrum as the holder of a conveyance, that it must cure and reinstate within certain proscribed timelines. The published opinion directly contradicts the DTA's intent.

In interpreting a statute, a court is obliged to construe the statute as a whole, giving effect to all language. Every provision must be viewed in relation to the other provisions and harmonized in order to eliminate a conflict. *In re Estate of Kerr*, 134 Wn.2d 328, 335, 949 P.2d 810 (1998). The opinion of the Court of Appeals creates a direct conflict with the notice requirements under the DTA. The DTA identifies who is entitled to "reinstate" as being the holder of *any conveyance* as opposed to the Court of Appeals decision which ostensibly limits the right to reinstate only to the borrower, grantor, guarantor, any beneficiary under a subordinate deed of trust, or any person having a subordinate lien or encumbrance. Rather

than harmonize the statute, the Court of Appeals creates further conflict within the statute itself. The arguments advanced by Centrum harmonize all parts of the statute without creating this conflict. *See* Appendix B and C, courtesy copies of Centrum's Appeal Brief and Reply. Given the importance of the interpretation of the Deed of Trust Act to all consumers within the state of Washington and all lenders in the state of Washington, the Supreme Court should accept review and harmonize the statute in order to give intent to all provisions of the statute.

B. The Opinion Will Lead to Absurd Results.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals makes no sense when construing the Deed of Trust Act as a whole. For example, if Centrum Financial had borrowed one hundred dollars from XYZ Financing Company and secured that loan with a deed of trust on the Monroe property, then XYZ Financing Company would have had a right to reinstate the first position note and deed of trust and yet Centrum Financial would not. This result makes no practical sense whatsoever. Supreme Court should accept review and correct the decision in order to provide certainty and security for the lenders and consumers. The Deed of Trust Act should be construed in a way that harmonizes the legislation and gives effect to the intent of the statute. It is Centrum's position that the intent of the statute is to provide all junior creditors, owners of the property or those who succeed in ownership to the property, the right to reinstate a defaulted first position note and deed of trust in accordance with RCW 61.24 et seg.

C. The Opinion Harms Consumers by Making HELOCs and Other Equity Lending Difficult and Ultimately More Costly.

In this case, Centrum Financial followed all of the proper procedural steps and non-judicially foreclosed on the Monroe property. As a result of that foreclosure, the Trustee conveyed a deed making Centrum Financial the owner of the Monroe property subject to the first position deed of trust. The opinion of the Court of Appeals affirms the extinguishment of any rights Centrum Financial, or any other second position lender in the state of Washington, has under the DTA. The decision has significant ramifications for every consumer in the state of Washington.

The opinion encourages all lenders, such as Centrum Financial, to **not** proceed with the orderly foreclosure of defaulted loans in a non-judicial setting. Instead, the opinion discourages, if not mandates, that a second position lender like Centrum **not** take action to foreclose in order to preserve its rights under the DTA.

Default interest rates, fees, and penalties will skyrocket, exposing consumers to enormous deficiency judgments. The practical effect of the opinion would encourage a lender, such as Centrum Financial, to take no action to foreclose upon the second position deed of trust. All the while, the underlying note would accrue ongoing default interest rates, fees, and other charges pursuant to the terms of each individual note. Second position lenders would be discouraged from seeking non-judicial foreclosure but instead would be encouraged to seek judicial foreclosure in

order to obtain deficiency judgments against the underlying borrower in order to protect against further losses. *See Umpqua Bank v. Shasta Apartments LLC*, 194 Wn. App. 685 (2016) (lender entitled to deficiency judgment in judicial foreclosure sale).

If lenders such as Centrum undertake a non-judicial foreclosure, their rights to reinstatement are forever extinguished as per the opinion of the Court of Appeals. This is not consistent with the intent of the Deed of Trust Act and further has the potential of disastrous impact for all consumers and lenders on the secondary lending market. The Supreme Court should accept review of this decision and correct the ruling.

VI. CONCLUSION

The opinion of the Court of Appeals significantly impacts consumers and lenders in the state of Washington. This decision discourages all second position lenders such as Centrum from ever foreclosing upon a defaulted second position note and deed of trust. Instead, without a non-judicial foreclosure, the default interest, penalty, and fees will continue to accrue and will expose borrowers to excess deficiency judgments. In essence, the opinion of the Court of Appeals leaves lenders such as Centrum with no other alternative. This is not the legislative intent. Instead, the intent of RCW 61.24 *et seq.* is to provide lenders such as Centrum the right to reinstate a first position note and deed of trust consistent with the statute. Otherwise, the legislature would not have required notice to Centrum coupled with a statement indicating that it

has a right to reinstate. The arguments advanced by Centrum harmonize the statute whereas the decision of the Court of Appeals creates further conflict. Under these circumstances, the Supreme Court should accept review. Interpretation of this issue presents an issue of first impression for the Supreme Court and, given the substantial public impact, review should be accepted.