FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/16/2018 4:39 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/16/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 954623

Court of Appeals No. 75676-1-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CENTRUM FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner,

VS.

UNION BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stellman Keehnel, WSBA No. 9309 Andrew R. Escobar, WSBA No. 42793 **DLA PIPER LLP (US)** 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 7000

Seattle, WA 98104-7044 Telephone: 206.839.4800

Fax: 206.839.4801

Attorneys for Respondent Union Bank, N.A.

##

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Overview

Centrum has abandoned every argument it previously made to the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals. Instead, its Petition raises a legal argument that Centrum has not previously asserted at any point in this litigation: because the Deed of Trust Act's ("DTA") notice provision, RCW 61.24.040, states that the holder of a conveyance has the right to receive notice of a trustee's sale under RCW 61.24.040(1)(b)(iii), this supposedly gives the conveyance holder a right to cure the default that triggered foreclosure, even though the conveyance holder is not included within the enumerated categories of persons that possess the right to cure a default under the DTA's cure provision, RCW 61.24.090. Centrum conflates the right to *notice* with the right to *cure*. Nowhere in the notice statute, RCW 61.24.040, does the Legislature expand on the limited set of parties to whom the Legislature granted cure rights in RCW 61.24.090(1). Indeed, under the notice statute, notice of foreclosure is to be provided to a

huge universe of persons—everyone from renters (RCW 61.24.040(1)(b)(iii)) and other occupants (RCW 61.24.040(1)(b)(vi)) to any person who has merely requested notice (RCW 61.24.040(1)(d)).

The Legislature spoke wisely in setting out, in RCW 61.24.090(1), the five categories of persons entitled to cure. No rule of statutory interpretation gives the Court a path to erase RCW 61.24.090(1)'s clear language. No rule of statutory interpretation gives the Court a path to rewrite RCW 61.24.040 to transform it from a *notice* provision into a grant of the right to cure.

The Court of Appeals' decision clearly and compellingly articulates the applicable law. Centrum's Petition for discretionary review should be denied because its argument lacks merit *and* because the sole basis for its petition is a new argument never presented to the trial court or the Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup>

**Nowhere** in RCW 61.24.040—or anywhere else in the DTA—does the Legislature state that the receipt of notice—required for a renter, the holder of a conveyance, or anyone who requests it—provides the right to

-2-

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case is singularly inappropriate for Supreme Court review for the additional reason that the sole "cure" that would have been available, even for persons entitled under RCW 61.24.090(1), was complete payoff of the entire loan amount, because Centrum's acquisition of the real estate from Union Bank's borrower indisputably triggered the due-on-sale clause. Pet. App'x A at 3, 7; Respondent's Appendix at 2, 14.

reinstate or cure a defaulted loan. In short, the Legislature appropriately extended the right to notice to a very broad group of potentially interested people, while limiting the right to cure to the five categories of person enumerated in RCW 61.24.090(1). There is simply no inconsistency between RCW 61.24.090(1) and RCW 61.24.040(1). The core premise for Centrum's Petition is thus incorrect, and its Petition should be denied.

#### **B.** Restatement of the Relevant Material Undisputed Facts

As confirmed by the Court of Appeals in its December 18, 2017 decision (the "Decision") and by Centrum in its Petition, the material facts are not in dispute. The Petition's Statement of Facts, however, omits a number of key material facts cited in the Decision, including: (1) by January 10, 2011, Prium Development Company LLC ("Prium"), the borrower and grantor of the first-position deed of trust held by Union Bank, was in default under its promissory note with Union Bank because it had not been current on its loan payments since December 2009 and its real property taxes for 2009, 2010, 2011; (2) Centrum—which is a former junior lienholder that foreclosed on its deed of trust and took title to the property by Trustee's Deed on January 21, 2011—was never a party to the defaulted promissory note between Prium and Union Bank and assumed no liability under it; (3) Union Bank's first-position deed of trust contained a "Due On Sale" provision that states that if the property is sold

without Union Bank's written consent, then Union Bank has the right to "declare immediately due and payable all sums secured by this Deed of Trust"; (4) Prium did not provide notice to Union Bank of Centrum's nonjudicial foreclosure on the property and did not seek Union Bank's written consent when Centrum foreclosed on its second-position deed of trust and took title to the property; (5) Union Bank had the right to demand payment for the full amount due on the promissory note; and (6) after Centrum acquired title to the property, it collected \$600,000 in rent derived from the property that belonged to Union Bank, but refused to turn the rent over to Union Bank unless it agreed to let Centrum reinstate and assume Prium's defaulted loan. These are but a few of the key material facts missing in the Petition's Statement of Facts. But rather than repeat all of the material undisputed facts here, Union Bank adopts the factual recitation provided by the Court of Appeals in its Decision at pages 2 through 9.

#### C. Relevant Procedural History

On January 24, 2014, Union Bank filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment asking the Superior Court to reject, as a matter of law, Centrum's claim that it has the right to cure and reinstate Union Bank's defaulted first-position loan. CP 289–300. The only argument Centrum raised in response at that time was that it should be considered a "grantor"

under RCW 61.24.090 because it was supposedly a "successor" to Prium (the grantor) since Centrum took title to the property from Prium when it foreclosed on its second-position lien. On February 21, 2014, the Superior Court granted Union Bank's motion, holding that Centrum did not have the right to cure and reinstate the defaulted loan under RCW 61.24.090. CP 71–75.

Centrum appealed this order. In its briefing to the Court of Appeals, Centrum reasserted its original argument that it should be considered a "grantor" under RCW 61.24.090 because it is supposedly a "successor" to Prium and therefore fits within the five specific categories of individuals or entities that may cure and reinstate a defaulted loan. Centrum's briefing to the Court of Appeals also raised three new arguments that it had not raised with the Superior Court: (1) that Centrum had an "encumbrance of record" because it held title to the property; (2) that Centrum held an alleged equitable subordinate lien; and (3) that RCW 61.24.090's list of individuals and entities should be augmented to include those who have "public policy" reasons to cure a defaulted loan.

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court's order. In doing so, the Court of Appeals confirmed that "[u]nder the plain and unambiguous language of RCW 61.24.090(1), only the borrower, grantor, guarantor, any beneficiary under a subordinate deed

of trust, or any person having a subordinate lien or encumbrance has the right to cure a default under a deed of trust, discontinue a nonjudicial foreclosure sale, and reinstate the deed of trust and the obligation." Pet. App'x A at 12.

The Court of Appeals then determined that Centrum did not fall within the definition of any party entitled to cure a default on Union Bank's promissory note with Prium. Because Centrum was not a party to that note, it was not a borrower or guarantor. *Id.* at 12. Centrum conceded before the Court of Appeals that after foreclosing on its junior lien, it was not a beneficiary under a subordinate deed of trust. *Id.* Centrum waived the right to argue it had an encumbrance of record or an equitable lien by raising these arguments for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 12 n.6.<sup>2</sup> Similarly, Centrum waived its argument about use of the term "successor" in a lease with the State, which it raised for the first time on reply. *Id.* (citing *Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 584, 594, 305 P.3d 230 (2013); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)).<sup>3</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In its Response to Appellant's Opening Brief, Union Bank nonetheless explained why these waived arguments are meritless. Resp. App'x at 18–22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Union Bank's counsel also addressed this waived argument during oral argument, explaining that the use of the term "successor" as a landlord in a lease is irrelevant to the issue Centrum raised on appeal, which is whether

The Court of Appeals next rejected Centrum's core argument that it was a successor to the Union Bank deed of trust's "grantor" under RCW 61.25.005(7), because Centrum did not assume Prium's obligations under the note. *Id.* at 13. Centrum was not obligated to pay Prium's debts under the promissory note, did not execute a deed of trust to secure that loan, and did not assume any liability for Prium's obligations to Union Bank. *Id.* at 14. Thus, it was not a successor to the grantor of the first-position deed of trust held by Union Bank. *Id.* 

Finally, the Court of Appeals declined Centrum's invitation to rewrite the DTA by allowing, on public policy grounds, a person with a financial interest in real property the right to cure a default and discontinue a foreclosure sale because "[p]ublic policy arguments are best left to the legislature, not the courts." *Id.* at 14–15 (citing *Doe v. Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d 363, 384, 374 P.3d 63 (2016)).

#### III. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly held that RCW 61.24.090(1) does not allow Centrum to cure the default in Prium's deed of trust because Centrum was not a "borrower, grantor, any guarantor, any beneficiary under a subordinate deed of trust, or any person having a subordinate lien

it was a "successor" to Prium under Union Bank's promissory note and deed of trust. Centrum was never a party to the defaulted promissory note and deed of trust and assumed no liability under either document.

or encumbrance of record on the trust property or any part thereof." The Legislature did not include Centrum within the list of parties entitled to cure a default under RCW 61.24.090(1). Centrum no longer challenges this reality; instead, it now argues, for the first time in its Petition, that because it is entitled to receive notice of a trustee's sale under RCW 61.24.040(1)(b)(iii) as the holder of a conveyance recorded subsequent to Union Bank's deed of trust, the form of notice in RCW 61.24.040 allegedly states that it has the right to cure and reinstate a defaulted loan and that this form of notice should be "harmonized" with the cure provisions in RCW 61.24.090. The problem for Centrum's new argument, however, is that the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with RCW 61.24.040 and RCW 61.24.090, which both exclude Centrum from the list of parties entitled to cure a default. There is nothing inconsistent to "harmonize" between the two provisions or the Decision below. Pet. at 6.

## A. Centrum Abandons All of the Arguments It Raised Earlier Before the Superior Court and Court of Appeals.

As an initial matter, Centrum's Petition does not assert—and therefore abandons—all of the arguments it raised before the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals. This includes Centrum's original argument that it is a "grantor" within the scope of RCW 61.24.090(1), because it is allegedly Prium's "successor" under the deed of trust. *See* 

Pet. App'x B at 13–17. Likewise, Centrum's Petition abandons its arguments that it has an encumbrance of record or equitable lien—arguments which the Court of Appeals deemed waived because Centrum only raised them for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 18–20. The same holds true for Centrum's previous public policy argument that would have written a sixth category into the list set forth in RCW 61.24.090—a public policy argument that the Court of Appeals rightly rejected because RCW 61.24.090's language is plain and unambiguous and it is not the province of the courts to rewrite what the Legislature has enacted. Pet. App'x A at 14–15.

Because Centrum's Petition does not raise any of these arguments, they have been waived. *See Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. James*, 101 Wn.2d 220, 225 n.2, 676 P.2d 470 (1984) (failing to raise issues in a petition for review results in waiver); *see also Clark Cty. v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Review Bd.*, 177 Wn.2d 136, 145, 298 P.3d 704 (2013) ("[A]n appellant is deemed to have waived any issues that are not raised as assignments of error and argued by brief.") (citing *State v. Sims*, 171 Wn.2d 436, 256 P.3d 285 (2011)). Even were this not the case, such waived argument should nonetheless be rejected for the reasons set forth in the Decision and Union Bank's Response to Appellant's Opening Brief. Resp. App'x at 11–22.

# B. Centrum's New Argument About Notice Requirements Misreads RCW 61.24.040(1)(f).

In lieu of the arguments it previously raised, and has now abandoned, Centrum in its Petition argues, for the first time, that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 61.24.090 conflicts with the notice requirements of RCW 61.24.040(1)(f), and that the two provisions must be "harmonize[d]" to "give effect to the legislature's intent." Pet. at 6. Specifically, Centrum contends that "notice requirements to be sent in accordance with RCW 61.24.040(1)(f) specifically include a section advising the recipients that they have a right to reinstate. Centrum Financial is one such required recipient." *Id.* (emphasis added). Centrum blatantly misstates the plain language of RCW 61.24.040(1)(f), which does *not* provide the long list of notice "recipients" with the right to cure the defaulted loan. In fact, RCW 61.24.040(1)(f) requires the foreclosing lienholder (in the relevant instance, Union Bank) to serve interested parties with a notice of trustee's sale stating that only "the Borrower, Grantor, any Guarantor, or the holder of any recorded junior lien or encumbrance" has the right to cure a default. Id. The list of parties in this provision is entirely consistent with that set forth in in RCW

61.24.090(1).<sup>4</sup> The list of parties entitled to receive notice is far broader, including not only holders of a conveyance recorded after the deed of trust (like Centrum), but also the property's renters, other occupants, plaintiffs in foreclosure proceedings, and absolutely "any person who has recorded a request for notice." RCW 61.24.040(1)(b–e) (emphasis added).

Centrum's Petition misquotes the DTA, which does not provide this long list of notified parties with the right to reinstate a default. Pet. at 6. To the contrary, "the holder of any conveyance" is entitled only to notice of an impending sale—not the right to cure. *Compare* Pet. at 7, with RCW 61.24.040(1)(b)(iii). If Centrum's argument were correct, then anyone in the world could obtain the right to cure simply by recording a request for notice. RCW 61.24.040(1)(d). The plain language of RCW 61.24.040(1)(f) confirms that *only* the parties listed in RCW 61.24.090(1) have the right to reinstate a delinquent loan. The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with these provisions, so there is no need for this Court to "harmonize" the Court's interpretation of the DTA. "If the statute is unambiguous after a review of the plain meaning, the court's

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, Centrum was not the holder of a recorded lien after foreclosing on Prium's junior lien. Pet. App'x at 12. Likewise, Centrum was not the borrower, grantor, or guarantor of Union Bank's senior deed of trust. *Id*.

inquiry is at an end." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010).

Even if Centrum had not misinterpreted these provisions, the Court should also reject the Petition because Centrum did not raise this argument below. Pet. App'x at B–C. Centrum may not raise new issues for the first time in this appeal. RAP 2.5(a) ("The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court."); UNIFUND, CCR, LLC v. Elyse, 195 Wn. App. 110, 118, 382 P.3d 1090 (2016) ("Although RAP 2.5(a) and RALJ 2.2(d) are phrased permissively that the court 'may refuse to review,' it is the rare exception when an appellate court will entertain a new legal theory that the opposing party and the trial court did not have an opportunity to fully explore."); Kut Suen Lui v. Essex Ins. Co., 185 Wn.2d 703, 719, 375 P.3d 596 (2016) (recognizing the "general rule that appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal.").

# C. Centrum's Policy Argument Is Unpersuasive and Reserved for the Legislature.

The Court should reject the new policy argument Centrum raises for the first time in Petition, just as the Court of Appeals rejected the now-abandoned policy argument Centrum raised below. Pet. App'x A at 8. There is no support for Centrum's hyperbolic and unsupported argument

that the decision below would have a "chilling effect" on the market for junior liens. As recognized by the Supreme Court of North Carolina, even when a junior lender is left unsecured, "the subordinate lienholder is not left without recourse, because it has an adequate means to compensate for this risk by charging a higher interest rate on the debt." *In re Vogler Realty, Inc.*, 365 N.C. 389, 398, 722 S.E.2d 459 (2012) ("[I]t is incumbent upon a subordinate lienholder to contemplate the risk associated with subordinating its right to payment to that of a higher priority lienholder."). The Court should also reject Centrum's ironic claim that it is pursuing the best interest of "every consumer in the state of Washington." Pet. at 9. As a hard-money lender whose loans "typically have been for six months of less," Centrum already charges interest rates far higher than other commercial lenders. Pet. App'x A at 5.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Centrum's attempt to benefit from Prium's rights as a borrower under the DTA, while simultaneously attempting to avoid the responsibilities and liabilities of a borrower under Prium's deed of trust. As explained by the Court of Appeals, Union Bank's senior deed of trust provided it the bargained-for right to demand immediate repayment in full upon any nonconsensual sale of the property. Pet. App'x A at 8; *see also* Resp. App'x at 4 (citing Sub. 153 at ¶¶ 8–9). Granting the Petition would allow junior lenders to escape

the "certainty and security" acquired by a senior lender, a result entirely inconsistent with Centrum's public policy arguments. Pet. at 8. Rather than provide stability to "lenders and consumers," Pet. at 8, granting the Petition would actually provide borrowers a roadmap for avoiding their obligations under a deed of trust. Borrowers like Prium could grant junior liens to affiliated entities, foreclose on the junior liens, and then avoid all contractual obligations under senior deeds of trust. Lenders relying on the certainty and predictability of their senior positions would lose every benefit to their bargain.

Finally, there is nothing in the Decision that encourages "lender misconduct and allows inflated interest and penalty charge calculations." Pet. at 5. The Court of Appeals recognized the plain, unambiguous, and reasonable interpretation of RCW 61.24.090(1), which applies consistently to all lienholders who foreclose on a lien, regardless of interest or penalty charges. The statute already provides ample insurance against Centrum's fears, because it awards only a "reasonable trustee's fee, together with the trustee's reasonable attorney's fees." RCW 61.24.090 (emphasis added). Moreover, as Union Bank explained in its brief to the Court of Appeals, the record confirms that Centrum's years of interference with Union Bank's right of foreclosure was a direct cause of the expenses in this case—expenses that Union Bank cannot recoup against Centrum because

Centrum is not a party to Union Bank's deed of trust or promissory note. In addition, as Union Bank noted in its briefing to the Court of Appeals, Centrum illegally enriched itself at Union Bank's expense by collecting and keeping \$600,000 in rent from the property that belonged to Union Bank. *See* Pet. App'x A at 6; Resp. App'x at 20. Centrum, not Union Bank, is the wrongdoer in this case, and public policy does not favor this Court rewriting the DTA to create a new exception that would benefit Centrum.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For these reasons set forth herein, Union Bank respectfully requests that the Court deny Centrum's Petition to review the Court of Appeals' Decision.